
CITY COUNCIL 
Regular Meeting – Agenda 

April 3, 2023 at 6:00 PM

Pooler City Hall 
100 US Hwy 80 SW, 

Pooler, GA 31322 
www.pooler-ga.gov 

1 of 1 

I. ROLL CALL/DECLARATION OF QUORUM

II. CALL TO ORDER

III. INVOCATION

IV. PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE

V. ANNOUNCEMENTS

VI. CONSENT AGENDA
A. City Council Meeting Minutes of March 20, 2023

B. Alcoholic Beverage License Application for Dave & Buster's of
Georgia, Inc. at 200 Tanger Outlet Boulevard, Suite 790

VII. ORDINANCES, PROCLAMATIONS, RESOLUTIONS
A. Ordinance O2023-04.A – To Amend Appendix A – Zoning, Article

III – General Provisions by Amending Section 6 – Schedule of
Development Regulations (Public Hearing; First Reading)

B. Resolution R2023-04.A - Amendment to the Schedule of Fees
(Water Meter Increases)

VIII. NEW BUSINESS
A. Conditional Use Request to Construct a Hardware Store at 1256,

1270, 1272, and 1276 US Highway 80 West (Public Hearing)
B. Minor Subdivision Plat for Morgan Lakes Industrial Park, Phase VI

C. Utility Easement Agreement for 101 Miller Pines Road with Ting
Liang

D. Proposal for Professional Services for the South Rogers Street Lift
Station Upgrade with Hussey Gay Bell

E. Pooler Recreation Complex Tennis Courts Change Order #2 from
Parker Properties: 6” Subgrade Drainage Installation

IX. EXECUTIVE SESSION

X. ADJOURNMENT

Page 1 of 57



CITY COUNCIL 
Regular Meeting – Minutes 

March 20, 2023 at 6:00 PM

 Pooler City Hall 
100 US Hwy 80 SW, 

Pooler, GA 31322 
www.pooler-ga.gov 

1 of 5 

I. ROLL CALL/DECLARATION OF QUORUM
Present: Rebecca C. Benton, Mayor 

Tom Hutcherson, Mayor Pro Tem 
Shannon Black, Councilmember 
Aaron Higgins, Councilmember 
Stevie Wall, Councilmember 
John Wilcher, Councilmember 
Karen Williams, Councilmember  
Robert Byrd, City Manager   
Craig Call, City Attorney    
Chris Lightle, Finance Officer   
Kiley Fusco, Clerk of Council    

Absent: 

II. CALL TO ORDER
Mayor Rebecca Benton called the meeting to order at 6:00 p.m.

III. INVOCATION
Dr. Shirlenia Daniel gave the invocation.

IV. PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE
Dr. Shirlenia Daniel led the pledge.

V. ANNOUNCEMENTS
Councilmember Aaron Higgins reminded those present of the GA DOT
announcement regarding the 16@95 Project. The first new turbine bridge ramp
that will carry I-16 westbound traffic to I-95 southbound is projected to open
Thursday, March 23, 2023. The ramp replaces the existing cloverleaf, loop ramp
on the west side of I-95. The partial turbine bridge ramps will open overnight
when traffic volumes are typically lowest.

VI. CONSENT AGENDA 

A. City Council Meeting Minutes of March 7, 2023

B. City Council Executive Session Minutes of March 7, 2023

Page 2 of 57



2 of 5 

C. Special Event Permit Application for Cavallo Equestrian Arts, LLC
from March 31, 2023 through April 2, 2023 

D. Special Event Permit Application for the Chamber of Commerce on
April 21, 2023 (seeking waiver) 

E. Special Event Permit Application for Robert Carpenter on May 6,
2023 

F. Special Event Permit Application for The 200 Club of the Coastal
Empire on May 6, 2023 (seeking waiver) 

G. Department Reports

1. Public Works

2. Finance

3. Fire

4. Police

5. Recreation

6. Planning & Zoning

Councilmember Karen Williams moved to approve the Consent Agenda.

Motion to Approve; PASSED (UNANIMOUS)
MOVER: Williams
SECONDER: Hutcherson
AYES: Black, Higgins, Hutcherson, Wall, Wilcher, Williams
NAYS:

VII. NEW BUSINESS 

A. Site Plan for Element Hotel at 100 Davol Street
City Manager Robert Byrd presented the site plan for consideration. Dan
Fishcer of EMC Engineering was present on behalf of the petitioner.
Councilmember Stevie Wall moved to approve the Site Plan for Element
Hotel at 100 Davol Street subject to the following conditions:

Page 3 of 57



3 of 5 

1. Recording of the stormwater agreement prior to a preconstruction
meeting

2. Completion of stormwater detention pond construction
3. Payment of a portion of the traffic signal cost, not to exceed

$175,000; final amount to be set by City Manager based on
number of hotel rooms

Dan Fischer verbally agreed that the petitioner would be willing to 
contribute toward the cost of the traffic signal. 

Motion to Approve with Stipulations; PASSED (UNANIMOUS) 
MOVER: Wall 
SECONDER: Hutcherson 
AYES: Black, Higgins, Hutcherson, Wall, Wilcher, Williams 
NAYS:  

B. Acceptance of Maintenance and Sidewalk Performance Bond for
Clear Lake Reserve Phase 2
City Manager Robert Byrd presented the bonds for consideration. Lamar
Mercer was present on behalf of the petitioner. Mayor Pro Tem Tom
Hutcherson moved to accept the Clear Lake Reserve Phase 2 Maintenance
Bond in the amount of $214,306.76 and the Sidewalk Performance Bond
in the amount of $55,972.50, subject to City Attorney approval.

Motion to Accept with Stipulations; PASSED (UNANIMOUS)
MOVER: Hutcherson
SECONDER: Higgins
AYES: Black, Higgins, Hutcherson, Will, Wilcher, Williams
NAYS:

C. Pooler Recreation Complex Tennis Courts Change Order #1 from
Parker Properties
City Manager Robert Byrd presented the change order for consideration.
Councilmember John Wilcher moved to approve the Pooler Recreation
Complex Tennis Courts Change Order #1 from Parker Properties to be
paid from SPLOST funds.

Motion to Approve; PASSED (UNANIMOUS)
MOVER: Wilcher
SECONDER: Higgins
AYES: Black, Higgins, Hutcherson, Wall, Wilcher, Williams
NAYS:

D. Amendment #1 to the 2023 Roadside Mowing and General
Maintenance Contract with The McGraley Company, LLC
City Manager Robert Byrd presented the amendment for consideration.
Councilmember Karen Williams moved to approve Amendment #1 to the
2023 Roadside Mowing and General Maintenance Contract with The

Page 4 of 57



4 of 5 

McGraley Company, LLC. 

Motion to Approve; PASSED (UNANIMOUS) 
MOVER: Williams 
SECONDER: Wilcher 
AYES: Black, Higgins, Hutcherson, Wall, Wilcher, Williams 
NAYS:  

E. 2023 Surplus Property List
City Manager Robert Byrd presented the list for consideration.
Councilmember Aaron Higgins moved to approve the 2023 As-Is Surplus
Property List.

Motion to Approve; PASSED (UNANIMOUS)
MOVER: Higgins
SECONDER: Wilcher
AYES: Black, Higgins, Hutcherson, Wall, Wilcher, Williams
NAYS:

F. Fiscal Year 2023 Community Project Funding Grant Agreements B-
23-CP-GA-0458, 0459, 0460, 0461
City Manager Robert Byrd presented the agreements for consideration.
Councilmember Stevie Wall moved to approve for signature the Fiscal
Year 2023 Community Project Funding Grant Agreements B-23-CP-GA-
0458, 0459, 0460, 0461.

Motion to Approve; PASSED (UNANIMOUS) 
MOVER: Wall 
SECONDER: Wilcher 
AYES: Black, Higgins, Hutcherson, Wall, Wilcher, Williams 
NAYS:  

G. Disciplinary Hearing for Owner of Savannah Chocolate Bar at 1 N 
Godley Station Boulevard, Suite B-100
Finance Officer Chris Lightle and Lieutenant Schmidt reported on the 
history of the payments and property, and began the hearing. Maurice 
Gilliard was present. Councilmember Aaron Higgins moved to place 
Maurice Gilliard, owner of the Savannah Chocolate Bar at 1 N Godley 
Station Boulevard, Suite B-100, on probation subject to the following 
conditions:

1. All delinquent amounts due shall be paid in full, in person, by 
March 31, 2023

2. All monthly payments for the next six months shall be paid in full, 
in person, and on time (through September 20, 2023)

3. If 1 and 2 are satisfactorily completed, the probation period will 
end in six months (September 20, 2023)

Motion to Place on Probation; PASSED (UNANIMOUS) 
MOVER: Higgins 

Page 5 of 57



5 of 5 

SECONDER: Wilcher 
AYES: Black, Higgins, Hutcherson, Wall, Wilcher, Williams 
NAYS:  

VIII. ADJOURNMENT
Councilmember John Wilcher moved to adjourn the meeting.

Motion to Adjourn; PASSED (UNANIMOUS)
MOVER: Wilcher
SECONDER: Higgins
AYES: Black, Higgins, Hutcherson, Wall, Wilcher, Williams
NAYS:

The meeting adjourned at 6:38 p.m.

The foregoing minutes are true and correct and approved by me on this _____
day of ______________, 2023.

_______________________________ 
Rebecca C. Benton, Mayor 

Attest: 

__________________________________ 
Kiley Fusco, Clerk of Council 

Page 6 of 57



Page 7 of 57



Page 8 of 57



Page 9 of 57



Page 10 of 57



Page 11 of 57



Page 12 of 57



Page 13 of 57



Page 14 of 57



Page 15 of 57



Page 16 of 57



Page 17 of 57



Page 18 of 57



Page 19 of 57



Page 20 of 57



Page 21 of 57



ORDINANCE O2023-04.A 

AN ORDINANCE TO AMEND THE CITY OF POOLER CODE OF ORDINANCES APPENDIX A - ZONING, 

ARTICLE Ill - GENERAL PROVISIONS BY AMENDING SECTION 6 - SCHEDULE OF DEVELOPMENT 

REGULATIONS; TO REPEAL ALL ORDINANCES IN CONFLICT HEREWITH; TO PROVIDE FOR AN EFFECTIVE 

DATE, AND FOR OTHER PURPOSES 

NOW THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED by the Mayor and Council of the City of Pooler that the Code of 

Ordinances of the City of Pooler, Georgia are hereby amended as follows: 

That APPENDIX A- ZONING, Article Ill. GENERAL PROVISIONS be amended by deleting the strikethrough 

text and adding the underlined text: 

Section 6. - Schedule of development regulations. 

(B) Schedule of commercial and industrial zoning district minimum yard requirements.

Schedule of Minimum Yard Requirements 

Zone Front Yard* Rear Yard** Side Yard Height of Building 

C-1 *** 40 10 10 45 

C-2*** 60 10 10 60 

C-P 30 20 20 50 

1-1 60 20 20 70 

1-2 80 40 40 70 

*Corner and through lots must meet front yard setbacks on each side that fronts a street right-of-way.

**Through lots do not have rear yards. 

***In the C-1 and C-2 districts, corner and through lots are only required to have the required minimum 

front yard setback at the building frontalong a designated primary frontage. Other yards with road 

frontage shall ha,.•e a minimum 30 feet of building setbackbe designated as secondary frontages or non

access frontages, where applicable. Secondary frontages shall include frontages that provide access to 

the site and non-access frontages shall be frontages that do not provide access to the site. For the C-1 

district, secondary frontages shall have a minimum 25 foot setback and non-access frontages shall have a 

15 foot setback. For the C-2 district. secondary frontages shall have a minimum 35 foot setback and non

access frontages shall have a 20 foot setback. 

II 

All ordinances or parts of ordinances in conflict with this ordinance are hereby repealed. 

Ill 

If any section, clause, sentence, or phrase of this ordinance is held to be invalid or unconstitutional by any 

court of competent jurisdiction, the said holding shall be in no way affect the validity of the remaining 

portions of this ordinance. 

Page 22 of 57



Page 23 of 57



Page 24 of 57



RESOLUTION R2023-04.A 

RESOLUTION TO ADOPT THE CITY OF POOLER 
SCHEDULE OF FEES 

WHEREAS, the City of Pooler provides a number of services on a regular basis within the city; 
and 

WHEREAS, each of these services cost the city to administer and carry out; and 

WHEREAS, there is a desire to accurately and correctly reflect the costs of these 
various services in schedules that reimburse the city for the time and expenses incurred by 
performing these services; and 

WHEREAS, the fees and fines for all departments are reviewed and adjusted periodically as 
deemed appropriate and fiscally responsible; and 

WHEREAS, the most recent review has determined that costs associated with providing 
services has increased to a degree that it is necessary to make adjustments in order to 
meet current needs and demands; and 

WHEREAS, the amendment to the March 30, 2023 edition of the Schedule of Fees is attached 
as; and 

NOW, THEREFORE, be it resolved by the Mayor and Council of the City of Pooler that the 
amended Schedule of Fees is hereby adopted. 

PASSED AND ADOPTED by the City of Pooler on this _______ day of ___________, 
________. 

CITY OF POOLER, GEORGIA 

__________________________________ 
Rebecca C. Benton, Mayor 

ATTEST: 

__________________________________ 
Kiley Fusco, City Clerk 

Page 25 of 57



Printed: 3/29/2023

CITY OF POOLER, GEORGIA
SCHEDULE OF FEES 2022 Fee

34.4212 Water meters:
Three‐fourths inch 565.00             
One inch 820.00             
One and one half inch, plus flange kit 1,287.00          
Two inch, plus flange kit 1,465.00          
Three inch 1,725.00           1,715.00          
Four inch 2,950.00           2,875.00          
Six inch 5,210.00           5,055.00          
Eight inch 8,425.00           8,180.00          
Ten inch 10,840.00        10,525.00       

Water meters ‐ Fire line:
Four inch F2 compact 7,275.00           6,600.00          
Six inch F2 compact 9,675.00           8,800.00          
Eight inch F2 Fire Service 14,080.00        13,670.00       
Ten inch F2 Fire line 19,400.00        18,835.00       

MXU Radio Read Fee: per meter  150.00              145.00             

Replace damaged MXU 150.00              145.00             
(No charge for first device replacement)

34.4214 Water meter repair parts/repair fees:
Dual check for 3/4" meter 49.50                44.50               
Star 3/4" 34.75                31.50               
Iron lid for 3/4" box 30.00               
3/4" meter 140.00              130.00             
3/4" box (includes brass and recessed lids) 335.00              290.00             

Dual check for 1" meter 67.50                62.50               
Ball valve for 1" meter 77.50               
Star 1" 55.35                52.60               
Iron lid for 1" 50.00               
1" meter 195.00              185.00             
1" box (includes brass and recessed lids) 545.00              490.00             
Sensor wire 22.00                ‐ 

1 of 1

EXHIBIT A

Page 26 of 57



Page 27 of 57



Page 28 of 57



Page 29 of 57



Page 30 of 57



Page 31 of 57



Page 32 of 57



Page 33 of 57



Page 34 of 57



Page 35 of 57



Page 36 of 57



Page 37 of 57



Page 38 of 57



Page 39 of 57



Page 40 of 57



Page 41 of 57



Page 42 of 57



Page 43 of 57



Page 44 of 57



Page 45 of 57



Page 46 of 57



Page 47 of 57



Page 48 of 57



Page 49 of 57



Page 50 of 57



Page 51 of 57



Page 52 of 57



Page 53 of 57



Page 54 of 57



Page 55 of 57



Page 56 of 57


	I. ROLL CALL/DECLARATION OF QUORUM
	II. CALL TO ORDER
	III. INVOCATION
	IV. PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE
	V. ANNOUNCEMENTS
	VI. CONSENT AGENDA
	A. City Council Meeting Minutes of March 20, 2023
	6A_City Council Meeting_2023-03-20_Minutes_draft

	B. Alcoholic Beverage License Application for Dave & 
	6B_Alcoholic Beverage License Application for Dave & Buster's of Georgia, Inc. at 200 Tanger Out


	VII. ORDINANCES, PROCLAMATIONS, RESOLUTIONS
	A. Ordinance O2023-04.A – To Amend Appendix A – Zonin
	7A_Ordinance O2023-04.A – To Amend Appendix A – Zoning, Article III – General Provisions by Amen

	B. Resolution R2023-04.A - Amendment to the Schedule 
	7B_Resolution R2023-04.A - Amendment to the Schedule of Fees (Water Meter Increases)


	VIII. NEW BUSINESS
	A. Conditional Use Request to Construct a Hardware St
	8A_Conditional Use Request to Construct a Hardware Store at 1256, 1270, 1272, and 1276 US Highwa

	B. Minor Subdivision Plat for Morgan Lakes Industrial
	8B_Minor Subdivision Plat for Morgan Lakes Industrial Park, Phase VI

	C. Utility Easement Agreement for 101 Miller Pines Ro
	8C_Utility Easement Agreement for 101 Miller Pines Road with Ting Liang

	D. Proposal for Professional Services for the South R
	8D_Proposal for Professional Services for the South Rogers Street Lift Station Upgrade with Husse

	E. Pooler Recreation Complex Tennis Courts Change Ord
	__EXTERNAL EMAIL__Pooler Tennis Complex - Parke...


	IX. EXECUTIVE SESSION
	X. ADJOURNMENT



